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Friday, November 10, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:29 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we'll get started.

Pursuant to the notice of hearing Procedural Order No. 1 in EB-2017-0320, this session is being held to conduct cross-examinations on new materials related to motions filed by Hydro One in Orillia.

My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  Joining me today is Judith Fernandez.  As I say, we are members of Board Staff.  We are not here on the Panel's behalf and we can't make any rulings or anything of that nature, though we will try to act as masters of ceremony.

We will be hearing from two witnesses today, Ms. Richardson and Mr. Hipgrave.  And cross-examination will be conducted largely by Mr. Shepherd, but also by me if there are any questions when he is done.

Why don't we do appearances and then we'll see if there are any preliminary matters and if not we'll get right to the cross-examinations.  Can we get start with you, Jay.
Appearances:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition.

MR. RODGER:  Good morning.  Mark Roger, counsel to Orillia Power.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Good morning.  Grant Hipgrave, interim president and CEO for Orillia Power Distribution Corporation.  Good morning.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Good morning.  It's Joanne Richardson, director of major projects and partnerships in regulatory affairs at Hydro One.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Michael Engelberg.  I'm counsel for Hydro One.


MR. MILLAR:  Do we have any preliminary matters before we get started?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we identify who the other people are in the room?

MR. MILLAR:  If you wish.  Are they all Hydro One and Orillia folks, I assume?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are they?

MR. ENGELBERG:  They are all Hydro One employees in regulatory affairs and finance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. RODGER:  With the exception of my colleague, Ada Keon, from Borden Ladner Gervais.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Any other preliminary matters?  Why don't we do this.  Would you -- I don't know if any introduction is necessary, and we have their names, so perhaps we don't need any more.  Did you have any -- there is no opening or anything like that, I assume?

MR. RODGER:  I just had a brief series of questions for Mr. Hipgrave just to introduce him, and also, there is a couple of small revisions to his affidavit, if I could do that at the beginning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why are we hearing this immediately before the --


MR. RODGER:  I think you'll hear that they're not material.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. RODGER:  But Mr. Millar, you had talked about affirming the witnesses before we started; is that correct?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, so I propose to do that now, and then we can move on as you suggest.

Let's start with you, Ms. Richardson.
ORILLIA POWER - PANEL 1

Joanne Richardson; Sworn

Grant Hipgrave; Sworn


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Rodger.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  So just once again, Mr. Hipgrave, if you could just please introduce yourself and your title.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Sure.  My name is Grant Hipgrave.  I'm the interim president and CEO for Orillia Power Distribution Corporation.

MR. RODGER:  And since you filed your affidavit, I believe there are just a couple of updates you want speak to.  Could you please put those on the record.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Certainly.  There have been a few small updates with respect to paragraphs 7, 10, and 11 of my affidavit.  Firstly, Orillia Power has acquired the services of a human-resource professional on a temporary part-time contract basis.  They're currently coming in one day a week to assist our team with human resource and health and safety matters.

In addition, I have made arrangement with my recently retired executive assistant to come into the office on a casual ad hoc basis to provide assistance primarily with respect to matters related to our board of directors.  They're currently coming in about two days per month to assist with preparation of board meeting packages and attending board meetings to take minutes.

MR. RODGER:  Is there any further updates?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No, there are not.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Engelberg, does Ms. Richardson need any further introduction?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No, I don't believe so.  She has already identified herself as director of major projects and partnerships, and there are no updates to her affidavit.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I have three documents I'm going to put to the witnesses.  The first is a document entitled "School Energy Coalition cross-examination materials."  This has been provided to everybody, and I wonder if it could have an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we'll -- what will we call this?  I guess we'll call it KT1.1.  
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS."

MR. SHEPHERD:  The second is a decision of the Board in EB-2016-0321.  Now, I don't know whether this actually needs to be made an exhibit --


MR. MILLAR:  Let's mark it for identification purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it's a decision dated March 30th, 2017 for rates, 2017 rates for Orillia Power.

MR. MILLAR:  KT1.2.  
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  DECISION OF THE BOARD IN EB-2016-0321 DATED MARCH 30, 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the third is an output sheet from a spreadsheet showing rate calculations for Hydro One/ Orillia from the affidavit -- Orillia from the rate order and a couple of other calculations, which I provided the full spreadsheet to my friends, but this is the sheet that I'll be referring to.

MR. MILLAR:  KT1.3.  
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  OUTPUT SHEET FROM A SPREADSHEET SHOWING RATE CALCULATIONS FOR HYDRO ONE ORILLIA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have some extra copies of these, which I'll give to you as we go through.  But I know you've got them all already.

So let me start with you, Mr. Hipgrave, and I'll say to the witnesses that my plan is I have specific questions of each of you.  And so if you could, if I direct a question to you, can you answer the question, and then if the other witness wants to add something, I have no problem with that, but I would like an answer from the person I ask the question of.  And on occasion I may say anybody can answer, you know, the ball's up in the air, or as they used to say on Reach for the Top, this is a toss-up.

So I'll start with you, Mr. Hipgrave.  You are interim president and CEO since August 2016, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And prior to that you were -- well, you were in the generation side for a while, but prior to that you were controller, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, we've met before in 2013 at a -- at one of the fun July distributor application sessions.

So you say in your motion in paragraph 8 that you've lost five employees; is that right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  This is in my affidavit you're referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's actually --


MR. HIPGRAVE:  In the motion?

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you listed five in your affidavit, and then in your -- sorry, in the motion, and then in the affidavit you said -- you've named some people as having left.  But it's five, right?  It's five.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Four that have left and one that is pending, has given retirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's right, that's right.

Now, the CEO who was an engineer, Frank Fitzpatrick?  Was that his name?  I can't remember.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Keith McCallister.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Close enough.  Left at the time the deal was signed, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Thereabouts, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I'll turn to you, Ms. Richardson.  It's a practice of Hydro One that the CEO of the acquired company leaves at the time that the deal is signed; isn't that right?  And that's happened in every single one of the case --


MS. RICHARDSON:  I would say it's not a practice.  I've never heard of it being as a practice.  The CEO may decide to leave on his own, but it's not -- we don't mandate the CEO to leave.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it has happened every time that you've done an acquisition in the last couple of years.

MS. RICHARDSON:  No.  In fact, the CEO of Norfolk is currently working in regulatory with us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The -- one of the five that you say is a loss is one who is not actually leaving until April of next year, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Thereabouts, yes, April or May.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or May.  Okay.  But at present with this matter held in abeyance and the Hydro One distribution rate case going somewhat slowly, you're not confident that you'll have a decision in this case by May, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I'm not confident, no.  That employee, as I mentioned in my affidavit as well, is a highly qualified 30-year employee who was intending to retire December 31st of this year.  In discussions with her, she agreed to stay on longer than that to see us through to completion of the integration.  But when this was -- that was before it was put into abeyance, and subsequent to procedural order number 6 she's essentially said I'm not prepared to give an open-ended commitment to -- for an indefinite period of time, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  For all of these people that you say are leaving, have you attempted to use retention bonuses and the sort of standard things that you do to try to keep them? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  We haven't offered retention bonuses.  We -- I mean, when people take another position, that's their choice if they choose to leave and pursue another opportunity.  And when people are retiring, they're set in their mind. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you haven't -- for example, you lost a control room operator just this past July.  You didn't offer an amount of money to stay for a while? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No, we did not. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, you also said in your affidavit that you have lost a -- that you have leased space for generation.  This is paragraph 14.  And it's empty because you haven't closed the deal yet.  Tell me about that. 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  As part of the share purchase agreement and the separation of the two companies, the generation company would be required to be out of the currently shared premises.  So we made arrangements to acquire space for that company to move into. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the deal hasn't closed yet? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, as a result, they're still in the same premises.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  At the moment, yes, but we're making plans for them to move.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  I was -- I don't understand why you wouldn't just move them anyway.  I mean, you already had the space for them, and you already had a plan to move.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why did you go from May until now without taking any steps to move them? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  We have been completing renovations to the facility, and we are planning to move them by year end.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it hasn't actually cost you anything, then?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No, that's not true.  It’s -- we have a had a lease since May 1st.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you've been doing renovations, so you couldn't move them in anyway. 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct.  But there’s still a cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what was your original plan for when they were going to move? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  The original plan was in the fall of this year. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So instead, it’s going to be --


MR. HIPGRAVE:  But it's been extended slightly. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I said it was in the fall of this year, but it’s been extended slightly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So they -- this is not a significant impact, then? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Significant impact to whom? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, to the utility that's making the application.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  To the generation company, it is, but to the utility, not directly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is it a material impact to the generation company?  A couple of months rent? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  We're incurring rent costs, yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't seem like a lot. 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  “A lot” is a relative term. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In any case, you're going to move by the end of December, so --


MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's our plan, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then there is no cost associated with that, and whether this is delayed or not is irrelevant; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  To the utility?

MR. SHEPHERD:  To the utility and to the generation company, there’s no impact anymore after they've moved; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Other than the ongoing costs of a -- of the facility that they will be occupying, yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, help me understand why that is a cost.  You planned to move them anyway, so they're going to be moved.  You're going to incur the same costs that you planned to incur if it had already been approved.  So how is there an incremental cost associated with the delay in the proceeding? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  There is no -- not related directly to the delay in the proceeding. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, let me come back to employees because you say in -- I'm going to take to you page 26 of our cross-examination materials, and this is table 410 from your EB2009073 rate application

You've seen this before; right? 

MR. RODGER:  What page, Jay? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 26 of our materials.  This was sent to you. 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Okay. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  You've seen this before? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Well, it's related to 2009.  I may have seen it eight years ago, yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  You were involved in this rate application? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I was. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this document was sent to you earlier this week; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have seen it before; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let's not make it difficult.  If you've seen it, just say so.  In this document, the expected number of FTEs in 2010 is 20.6.  Do you see that?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total compensation for that year is 2,783,216.  Do you see that? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want you to, then, go to your affidavit.  And you say you've lost five people, but you made a reference here -- I'm just looking for the reference -- to having 50 staff.  I'm looking for where that is.  What?  Yes.  Okay. 

So in paragraph 6 -- that's right -- you say that you have less than 50 employees.  But you didn't go from 29.6 to 50 between 2010 and 2016, did you? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No, we didn't.  As I state in the -- point 6 of the affidavit, that's a combined staff count between Orillia Power distribution and Orillia Power Generation. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in August 2016, what was the split between regulated utility and generation? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I don't know the number off the top of my head. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then we have no way of knowing how much impact five employees is, because we don't know -- all those 5 employees are 100 percent utility.  Is that right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's talk about the five employees.  The manager of HR and health and safety officer, is that shared, utility, or generation? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Shared. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Shared.  The EA, shared, utility, or generation? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Shared. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  The CEO, of course, was shared; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  The building clerk? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  One hundred percent utility. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Utility.  And the control room operator? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Shared. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Shared.  So then it doesn't sound like a utility with 29.6 people actually lost five people.  You didn't; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No.  As I state in there, we had a combined staff of 50.  We've lost four employees, and another retirement is pending. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I went back to the yearbook for -- the distributor's yearbook for 2016. and at the end of 2016, you report 33 FTEs in your -- in the utility, Orillia Power.  That is presumably after losing some people; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  What timeline was that?  I'm sorry. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  End of 2016. 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  At the end of 2016, the only of those people on that list that were no longer there was the CEO. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then am I -- is it reasonable to estimate that, in August 2016, you had 34 FTEs before the CEO left? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I’m not sure. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Can you undertake to provide details on the FTEs you had at the time the deal was signed before the CEO left? 

MR. RODGER:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Jay, just to be clear, that's FTEs in the utility? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, in the utility.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.1. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  JT1.1?  Okay. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS ON THE FTES AT THE TIME THE DEAL WAS SIGNED BEFORE THE CEO LEFT

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the other question I have is:  In losing these people, you've also reduced your costs; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes.  There are costs associated with those people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you know -- we have your total compensation in 2010.  Do you know what it was in 2016?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I don't have that right off the top --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you provide it?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you provide it?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Could I provide it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  By way of undertaking.  It may be in the same undertaking.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Can you just be clear to me what it is that you're --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking for annualized compensation at the same time as the FTEs in JT1.1.  It's information you have available to you, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I'd be able to get that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can we include that in the same undertaking?

Now, one of the things that surprised me here is you haven't had very strong customer growth in the last -- since 2010, right?  In that six years your customer growth is only five-and-a-half percent, which actually surprised me.  I thought Orillia was growing faster than that, but your customer growth hasn't been that high, has it?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Not during that period.  It certainly is now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes, no, I do understand that.  You have a whole area that is now being developed, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the south of Orillia?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But isn't that area being served by InnPower?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because we just were in their rate application and they said there's this whole part of Orillia -- no, that's Barrie.  Never mind.

Anyway, the reason I ask this is because five-and-a-half percent growth doesn't seem like you'd need another five people from 2010.  So you're really -- you're going down to where you were in 2010, and you haven't had that much customer growth since then, so I'm not sure I understand why this personnel thing is such a problem.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Every addition that we've made to personnel over the years has been closely scrutinized and a business need for that growth, whether it be increased demands for regulatory reporting on the engineering side, through Regulation 22/04, whether it be for increased reporting for regulatory through the Ontario Energy Board, or dealing with the retirement of staff, bringing on new apprentices to grow them through the system.  Each one of those has been closely scrutinized by our management team and our board, and the growth was justified.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in fact, you're still earning quite a healthy rate of return, right, so it's not like it's costing you -- you're able to manage this within your existing budget, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Currently managing, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want you then if you could to turn to KT1.2, which is the decision in EB-2016-0321.  And I don't have any particular detailed questions on this.  I just want you to identify that in fact Orillia Power did apply for this rate change and did get it, and the rates.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  2016-321?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, 0321.  And these are in fact the rates that you're currently charging your customers?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes, those are the rates effective May 1st --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Thank you.

Now, I want you to turn if you could to page 4 of our materials.  And this is a letter sent by Mr. McAllister, who for whatever reason I gave him a different name, asking for a deferral of your 2014 rebasing.  Do you recognize this?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Sorry, this is page 4 you're referencing?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 4 of our materials.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  And, sorry, what was the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you recognize this letter?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is -- you were -- you rebased for 2010 rates, and under the rules at that time the next rebasing was supposed to be 2014, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And at that time you were obligated to file a capital plan, a distribution system plan, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  In 2014?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I believe that was in effect at that point, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, you refer to that, and you say that, you know, it's -- these new requirements are difficult and we want to defer it for a year so we can file a DSP, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You still haven't filed a DSP, have you?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a capital plan?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  We have an asset management plan and a capital plan, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have not filed it with the Board because you haven't had a rebasing yet?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have --


MR. HIPGRAVE:  We have a formal distribution system plan; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have a plan for when that will be filed?

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Shepherd, I'm not sure how your questions relate to the contents of Mr. Hipgrave's affidavit, which is the purpose of today.  The affidavit speaks to the operational difficulties related to the ongoing delay of having this proceeding resolved, and that's -- those issues are not relevant to a rate deferral request back in 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where I'm going with this is that I don't think that losing some employees or some lease space has anything to do with why you're concerned about the delay, and as I go through these various requests for delay of rebasing I think I can impugn your witness in that respect, and I think I'm entitled to do that.  You can tell him to refuse to answer if you wish.

So if you go to page 5 of our materials, you ask again in November 2013 -- I don't mean you, I mean the

then-CEO -- for another deferral for another year.  And let me ask you a question about that.  That had nothing to do with this merger, right?  At that time you weren't talking about this merger.  This request for a deferral had other reasons, nothing to do with the merger, true?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  You're referring to the letter of November 28th, 2013?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Then that's correct.  It didn't have anything to do with the sale and purchase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The purchase wasn't under discussion at that time that you know of, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  I thought.

You also refer to amounts accumulating in account 1576, which is the account that deals with changes in accounting as a result of IFRS.  Those amounts are still accumulating in 1576, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Are you talking on an annual basis 
or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  On an annual basis.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  -- accumulating?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  On an annual basis.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  On an annual basis, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you haven't cleared them out?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes, we cleared.  We've cleared -- I can't remember the number of years, but we cleared a -- I believe it was three years' worth of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2016 or in 2017?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I don't recall the exact year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, we'll find it.

Then -- and the other thing we note here is that on the second page of that letter you note that your regulated rate of return continues to be well above the approved level in the last cost of service, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let me continue on to page 7 of our materials.

In January of 2015 you then asked for another deferral, this time only for four months.  And again, this was nothing to do with the merger, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is simply, you were trying to file for January 1st, and you were having a problem getting to that marker, so you said, let's make it May 1st instead, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Yet you weren't the only ones in that position.  There were lots of utilities having that problem.

Then in April, three months later -- and this is on page 8 of our materials -- you say, no, we would like another year's deferral, and the reason is there's simply lots going on, but this is still no mention of a merger, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Not at this time, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And at that time, this deferral in April 2015 was not because of merger discussions, was it?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I don't have knowledge of that.  There may have been discussions going on, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but you were involved in this letter?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No, it's not my letter. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  I understand that.  But you were controller at the time, weren't you, or were you already in generation? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  At that point, I would have been in generation. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  I withdraw the question. 

And at that time, you were still -- your return on deemed equity, for example, in 2014 was 12.7 percent.  So you were doing very well; right? 

MR. RODGER:  Well, again, Mr. Shepherd, how is this relevant to Mr. Hipgrave's affidavit? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I’m going to --


MR. RODGER:  Point me to the -- what's the paragraph where there is a relationship between the question and the affidavit? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Richardson has filed an affidavit saying that it's reasonable to expect a 6 percent rate increase of Orillia Power, and this demonstrates that that's not true. 

MR. RODGER:  Well, Mr. Hipgrave cannot respond to a Hydro One exhibit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It’s -- I’m not.  I'm asking him to respond to an Orillia Power letter. 

MR. RODGER:  It's not related to the affidavit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can direct him to refuse if you wish.  The Board will take what they will. 

MR. RODGER:  It's not a relevant question. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then on page 11 -- on page 11 of our materials, this is a letter written January 2016 asking for another year’s deferral.  But this time the letter says -- we're in the middle -- or we aren't.  The city is in the middle of discussions with Hydro One.

So now this is the first time that you've asked for a deferral that was related to the merger; right?  That you know of? 

MR. RODGER:  Well, there is no merger before the Board.  There never has been a merger before the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the acquisition.  You’re going to split hairs?

MR. RODGER:  The sale.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the first time that you've asked for a deferral for that reason; right?  That you know of? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That I know of. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, again, you're still -- your ROE is still quite high; right?  And I'm going to ask you a specific question about this that relates to -- I withdraw that question.  I'll come back to it.

Can you go to the page 15 of our materials.  Now, this letter dated June 2015 is your letter; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're familiar with the contents of this letter; right? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, in this letter, you ask for another year’s deferral, and you explain a number of things associated with ROE and what has happened to the company in 2016.  So I have a couple questions about this.  First of all, if you take a look on page 16 of our materials, you'll see you have a table called “Regulated Rate of Return on Deemed Equity.”  Do you see that? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you estimate that your ROE is 8.99 for 2015.  Did you do that calculation? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No, I did not. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know who did? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  It would have been within our regular or finance group with -- possibly with the assistance of our financial -- our accounting firm, sorry. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here is why I asked the question:  Because if you go back to page 11, you said -- at the end of 2016, you said 2015, 10.75 percent ROE.  But then, in your last letter, you say, oh, no, no, no, 8.99 percent.  What happened? 

MR. RODGER:  Again, we refuse to answer this question.  It's not relevant to the affidavit that's been put forward. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Hipgrave wrote this letter. 

MR. RODGER:  But it needs to be relevant to what Mr. Hipgrave has sworn to in his affidavit, which talks about uncertainty of this ongoing delay of not getting this matter dealt with.  That's what his affidavit speaks to, the practical operational difficulties that he is experiencing through the delay. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And our position is that's not the reason why this motion has been brought.  The reason this motion has been brought is because you paid a million dollars in tax prematurely.  So let's go into that because we're going to get to what happened to your ROE in a second, but let's talk about the tax you paid in August 2016.

You paid a million dollars in tax in 2016; right? 

MR. RODGER:  Well, that's a legal issue, and if you like, I can give you some context, but it doesn't come out of this affidavit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not the witness, and I'm not restricted to the affidavit.

MR. RODGER:  If you don't want the information that we’ve offered, that's fine.  I've offered to provide you some context around that, but if you don't want it, that's fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want the witness to tell me why he paid the tax.  He was the interim CEO.  Why did you pay the tax? 

MR. RODGER:  We'll refuse that, and if need be, we can explain to the Board the legal basis for that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, my understanding of the tax is that, because the tax is an after-tax amount, you have to actually gross it up when you're doing the calculation of ROE.  So I tried to replicate your ROE calculation, and I had some considerable difficulty.  Did you do this ROE calculation, this one where you say that, in the second box, breakdown of the 2016 ROE difference?  Did you do that? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No, I did not. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So who did it?  You were the CEO.  Didn't you at least approve it?  It's your letter.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  My letter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So did you approve this calculation? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I signed the letter. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to ask you to undertake to provide your 2016 financial statements, the calculation of the departure tax, and the calculation of this ROE in this letter. 

MR. RODGER:  And, again, we refuse to answer that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me what the ROE is before the payment of the tax? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  I don't have knowledge of that information off-hand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're the CEO.  You don't know what your ROE was last year? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Off the top of my head?  No. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I have another question about that, and that is you have this big increase in rate base, 42.23 percent in six years.  That's a huge increase.  And I'm wondering if you can help us understand why that is, why that happened, because I went back and looked at your capital additions in the -- from the yearbook every year, and it didn't look like -- sometimes your capital additions were high, but except for 2016, they were pretty normal.

MR. RODGER:  Once again, the question is not relevant to Mr. Hipgrave's affidavit which focuses on uncertainty and operational difficulties arising from the delays in this proceeding. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So, Mr. Hipgrave, did -- were any changes made to your accounting in 2016 at the request of Hydro One? 

Just so that I don't seem to be sandbagging you -- and I don't mean to -- you reported -- in your 2016 RRRs, you reported a negative depreciation amount.  That's not something any utility ever does, and, therefore, there must be a reason for that, and I'm assuming that Hydro One had something to do with that, and I'm asking you.

MR. RODGER:  We're refusing to answer that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On what basis?

MR. RODGER:  It’s not relevant.  Not relevant to Mr. Hipgrave's affidavit which deals with uncertainty and the problems arising from the delay and then making a decision in this proceeding. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know that this information is all going to come out sooner or later; right?  It's not like you can stonewall.  The Board is going to want to see this. 

MR. RODGER:  Well, that's what the purpose of the motion is about, what's relevant, what's not.  In this case, the final arguments, as you know, have already been filed with the Board, and it's our view that looking at the Hydro One distribution case is irrelevant to the matters and the test that the Board applies in this case, and we don't believe it is relevant or will be required by the Board.  And the Board has everything it needs to make a decision in this application, which was filed in October of 2016. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So, then, the last thing I want to ask you about is you allowed employees to depart without replacing them.  And I understand why people had some uncertainty and so left because -- or went on with their retirements.  But you assumed, didn't you, that the Board would approve this transaction?  True? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And why was that? 

MR. RODGER:  We've already addressed all those issues in the arguments before the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  No.  This is directly within his affidavit.

MR. RODGER:  How does it relate to the affidavit of Mr. Hipgrave?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if you let me finish my sentence, Mr. Rodger, you'd find out, wouldn't you?

MR. RODGER:  We're all listening.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The affidavit specifically says that you had -- you have uncertainty in the company because the Board has not approved your application, but until they've approved it you're going to have uncertainty right, true?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't know how long it's going to take them, do you?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  No, there is not a specific time line that's given upfront.  However, we did refer to the Board's performance standards, which are published, which state that an application of this sort would typically, under the guideline -- I realize it's not a mandate, but under the guideline it's 130 days is the expectation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  130 days until what?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  From application to decision.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And --


MR. HIPGRAVE:  -- we are sitting at -- as of today we're approaching 400 days, so you can imagine the type of uncertainty that that puts upon the staff and how uncomfortable that makes them feel.  Staff come to me on a regular basis.  It's my job to keep them informed of what's going on.  And I meet with them regularly to give updates on this whole process.

PO number 6 comes out, I can't answer those questions any more.  This never happened.  That type of procedural order has never come out before, where all of a sudden the future of a merger or sale and purchase between Orillia Power and Hydro One is now dependent on some other case that's completely unrelated to this?  Staff are looking at me and saying, what's next?  I don't have answers for them anymore.  We're at 400 days.  Four hundred days.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You'll agree that the Board could have said no to the application.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Absolutely, they could have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you had that uncertainty anyway, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  We had that uncertainty, but we're at 400 days.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was your plan if the Board said no?

MR. RODGER:  That's an irrelevant question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The uncertainty is admitted to exist whether it's approved or denied, right?  You've said this uncertainty, this -- we don't know what the answer is -- has been going on a long time, but you could be in a situation where the Board had said no.

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Hipgrave has given his answer.  The reasonable expectation is that the Board would comply with its own benchmark time lines for an approval, and we are far in excess of that.  That was his evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so it has nothing to do with assuming that there would be an approval.  You assumed that there would be an approval, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, you wrote a cheque for a million dollars on the assumption that it would be approved, right?

MR. RODGER:  What's your basis to say we wrote a cheque for a million dollars?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Hipgrave's letter of July 2017 says we paid a tax of a million and 65,000 dollars to the government in August 2016.  You paid that, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  It's payable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm sorry, I thought you said you paid it.  Did you not pay it?  Did you not pay it yet?

MR. RODGER:  The whole question of departure tax -- this is why I wanted to give you some context earlier.  The whole question about when departure tax is payable is something I can advise you that the Ministry of Finance has told us that they're re-evaluating.  The legislation is not well-written, and part of the problem here is the way it is written now departure tax would be payable when a transaction is signed, not when the transaction is approved, but finance is reconsidering that.  That's my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then this million dollars has not yet been paid?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you booked it in 2016 and you've said you didn't earn your ROE because of that, right?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  It had an impact on the ROE, no question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it didn't.  You didn't pay it, and your counsel is now saying you might not have to pay it --


MR. RODGER:  No, but I also said that under the way the current law is drafted right now it is payable when the agreement was signed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Okay.  I'm going to turn to Ms. Richardson then.  And Mr. Millar, you don't want to ask any questions of Mr. Hipgrave right now, or do you want to wait until the end?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I think you covered most -- I'm happy to wait until the end.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  And so Ms. Richardson, what does a director of major projects and partnerships do?

MS. RICHARDSON:  I'm in regulatory affairs, so I'm not in the lines of the business.  I'll clarify that.  So  under my portfolio I work on our large leave-to-construct applications, our mergers and acquisitions, and I work on our service-area amendments and asset sales, so basically most of our applications that are not our major rate applications I work on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  You're not directly involved then in the negotiation of acquisitions, you get them after the deal has been made and you have to do the regulatory side of it?

MS. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, I see, I see.  All right.  That's a whole, like, half an hour of questions I don't have to ask anymore.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Perfect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You like that, do you?  Now, what you've done is you filed a, basically a set of nested spreadsheets -- I think that's correct -- that estimate for ten years how much the Orillia Power customers will benefit from this transaction to demonstrate that the no-harm test is met; is that right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I want to ask you some questions about those numbers.  Just two high-level questions.  The first is, you've assumed that -- because what you've done is you've said here is what happens if Orillia Power is not acquired, this is what the rates are, and this is what the customers pay.  And then here is what happens if the acquisition takes place for that ten years, right?  You're doing a straight-up comparison head-to-head?

MS. RICHARDSON:  That's correct, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so in the Orillia Power side, the base line, if you like, you've assumed that Orillia Power will seek or will get a 6 percent rate increase for all classes in 2018 and another one in 2023; is that right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes, we provided that as an illustrative example, and we did say that we were making assumptions.  We based our assumptions upon average rate increases by utilities in two sets of years that the OEB has approved.  So we've not done it as a specific calculation of where Orillia would be.  We have not taken into account that they have not had their rate base, rebase since 2010 and updated any -- as you mentioned earlier to Mr. Hipgrave, the 40 -- I think you said 40 -- 42 percent rate base growth, that has not been accounted for in that table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the company is still over-earning by a substantial amount.  Why would you assume they'd need a rate increase?  Normally when a company has ROE that is well above their Board-approved, especially when the Board-approved has now gone down by more than 100 basis points, you would expect that there would be a rate decrease.

MS. RICHARDSON:  So right now I do not know how much they've over-earned or not over-earned.  As you've pointed out, the return of equity has a calculation for their PILs exit tax, so I don't know how much they're over-earning or not.  All I do know is that they have not had their rates rebased since 2010.  Under normal circumstances most utilities go into the OEB to seek a revenue requirement in ten years.  They are well beyond that point right now.  So we're looking at by 2018, eight years after they last had the rates rebased, we believe that most utilities would want to have their rates rebased at that point of time to catch up on the rate base that has been put into service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're proposing this theory that we've heard from other utilities that rebasing is a time to get a bigger increase, as opposed to resetting and allowing the ratepayers to share in the benefits of IRM?

MS. RICHARDSON:  We are not sure of what will actually happen.  Again, it's illustrative.  All we've said is that if we look at the 30 utilities that had their rates rebased, the average rate revenue requirement increase that was allowed by the OEB was 6 percent.  Some of them had higher increases, some of them had lower.  We don't know where Orillia would stand.  But just as a general quick assumption, as an illustrative purposes, without any basis on it, looking at Orillia's numbers, that that's how we do that table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Board can't look at this and say this is how much the -- this is a reasonable estimate of how much the customers in Orillia will save over this ten years.  They can't reach that conclusion, can they?  
It's --


MS. RICHARDSON:  They can't reach it for numbers, but in a logical sense if you have any utility that has not rebased for seven years and then they have a rate freeze and reduction of rates of 1 percent and then a further rate five years of being inflated at less than inflation with no rate increase and plus having a guaranteed earnings sharing mechanism refund, I think it's very difficult for the Board or anybody else to say that the customers would be worse off into those ten years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, do you know anything about the departure tax? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  I do not.  Well, all I know is it's causing us problems in our distribution rate -- in our transmission rate application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  Indeed.  The decision just came out yesterday in fact.  Okay. 

The other high-level thing I want to ask you about in your number -- there’s two more actually -- is you assumed a loss factor of 10561; right?  In your calculation? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  My understanding is that we are keeping the -- I actually asked my rate people earlier this week -- that we're keeping the loss factor that Orillia has.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is from 2010? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  If that's correct.  I can't guarantee that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I went back and looked.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I went back and looked, and the 2010 rate order has 10561 as the loss factor.  So will you accept that subject to check? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it -- and that's actually similar to the Hydro One loss factor; right? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Again, I don't have that number in front of me, but I --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked up Hydro One, and it's currently -- or it was last time, last year 5.6, which is pretty close.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Okay.  Subject to check, I'll say that is pretty close.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I also looked at the actual losses in 2016.  Loss factors are not reported every year in the RRRs, but the actual losses are in the yearbook.  And Hydro One's losses were 4.5 percent of supplied kilowatt-hours, and Orillia's losses were 3.13 percent.  Will you accept those numbers subject to check?  They're from the yearbook. 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Again, I have no knowledge of those numbers. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you agree that you did not adjust for the fact that Orillia's losses are actually different than Hydro One's losses? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  I will agree to that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I -- the last high-level thing I want to ask you about is your starting point in rates.  So you've seen this rate order that Mr. Hipgrave has identified? 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  321 or the 2010? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  The 2016, 321 order.  And you didn't take this into account in your table, did you? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  In the table, was that -- is that not what the rates were set on the last rate order?  Or was it 2016 rates?  I think we said it was 2016 rates we started.  Is that correct? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm looking at your affidavit, Exhibit A page 3, and this says -- for example, this is the residential -- says the fixed charge is 1796, and the volumetric charge is 129.

MS. RICHARDSON:  We did not take into account the move to fix.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then your starting point numbers for rates in your table are not actually what the rates are, are they?  The approved rates? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  They were the approved rates.  There has now been a move to fix, which has been implemented since that point in time.  The move to fix is supposed to be revenue neutral for the average customer.  So depending upon the customers, though, of course, there will be slight variations between them.  But basically our table was an approved rate, and the only thing it does not include was the recent move to fix is my understanding. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then I'm looking at page 14 of your Exhibit A, and this is GS less than 50, and you have 3802 as the fixed charge, but the rate order says 3742.  And you have 168 as the variable charge, and the rate order says 165.  So this is consistent throughout; right?  You've started from the wrong point?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yeah.  So we've put on -- unfortunately we did it on every header.  We said these rates were based on EB-2015-0024.  The reason why we would not have updated it, because we match with the table that was filed in our prefiled evidence, which was -- I'll be quite certain that the 2017 -- the 2016-0321 application, you -- a decision probably came out after we filed our evidence in 2016.  So we kept consistent with our evidence so as not to introduce further new evidence on this. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have in fact updated your table, haven't you?  Didn't you say you updated your table? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  We updated it for some errors that were -- on the move to --

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't think the starting point rates is an error? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  I mean, if you like, we can start again, but the guaranteed rates that we provided in the application -- if the application is approved, we've said that Orillia's 2016 rates will be used.  Those will be the rates that will be frozen.  So we based it upon that analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then it's still the case -- and maybe I was just confused here -- that if, in next June, the Board approves this application, you're going to go back to 2016 and 2017 and give the customers back that money?  That's the plan? 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's the 2016 rates, yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so they're being --

MS. RICHARDSON:  If the 2016 rates have moved to fixed, we have got to go back to that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I understand the fixed variable has to be --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For the base distribution rates, not for all of their rates, right, just the base distribution rates. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Have you filed evidence to --

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  It's written in our prefiled evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That you’re going to go back to 2016?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Well, we said it was based upon their 2016 base distribution rates will be frozen, reduced by 1 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I'll go to you Mr. Hipgrave.  Why did you ask for a rate increase this year if the deal is that you're assuming this is going to be approved, and it would have to -- you'd have to go back and have the rates revisited retroactively?  Why did you even apply this year? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  It’s the normal course of business. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is your mic on?  I didn't hear you.

MR. HIPGRAVE:  It's the normal course of business. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So, Ms. Richardson, your table that's attached to your affidavit forecasts the difference between status quo and with acquisition from 2017 to 2026; right? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Correct.  And that was to match the original evidence.  Today, I would say that should be 2018 to 2027. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  2018 to? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  To 2027, because at this -- I do not expect that we will get an approval, and even if we do get an approval before Christmas, there’s still the 90-day period before the close of the transaction.  So the transaction would not be closing until 2018. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if we just shifted these numbers over two years, they would be in the ballpark?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yeah, more or less.  Yeah, you would be in the ballpark. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so this estimate of the savings for the customers basically has two components.  Tell me whether this is right.  The first component is you drop the rates by 1 percent and freeze them for five years, and that gives you a saving that is actually built in for the full 10 years because it continues on; right? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  No.  If I'm hearing what you're saying, for the first five years, they get their base rates decreased by 1 percent and then --

MR. SHEPHERD:  And a freeze? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  -- and frozen, and then in year six, the 1 percent is taken off.  And then so it’s going back to their original approved rates, and then it's being -- then the price cap is being applied.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they're still benefitting from the freeze? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  They're benefiting that they didn't pay for the rates, but the actual -- let's say the frees was one percent and the inflation is 1 percent in 2017.  In essence, the rates will be going up 2 percent because they’re going to lose that 1 percent, and then they’ll get the price cap adjustment based on -- based upon their -- the prior years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  My point is this:  If rates normally went up 1 percent a year, then by the end of year five, they would be up 5 percent, right, normally?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Correct.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're not starting from 5 percent more when you’re doing the price cap; right?  So they're going to get that 5 percent benefit for the next five years as well.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  Correct.  Yes, they will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True?  Okay.  So That's one part.  That’s the rate structure.  And then you’re saying there’s another part which is about a third of it, I guess, it looks like, which is your estimate of earnings sharing; right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is also illustrative; right? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  The earning share mechanism, the proposal that we put in the application, is a fixed amount.  And so it would not be illustrative.  It's guaranteed to the customers.  And we've provided that in the evidence.

And we've provided that in the evidence.  We provided all the mechanism of how that was calculated in our original evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the -- so the only thing that's illustrative about the ESM is how it's allocated between customers.

MS. RICHARDSON:  How it's allocated between customers would be, and the other thing that we have proposed, and there was discussions of that throughout the hearing, we had initially proposed that we'd refund it to customers in year 2011 or maybe 2011/2012, that it looked like there is concern with that, and many intervenors and staff -- I can't remember who -- suggested maybe we should give it back on a year-by-year basis.  But illustrative, it may not be those years is what I'm trying to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask you, you just said 2011.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Oh, say in year 11.  Did I say 2011?  Year 11, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just wanted to make sure I didn't misunderstand.

All right.  So the amount you've included in the ESM is in fact the guaranteed component.

MS. RICHARDSON:  It's the guaranteed component, and we've not done analysis.  We didn't do a proposal of how the allocated amongst rate classes.  We've done a very simplified example down below of what we've used for this illustrative, but at the time when we would be seeking disposition of that deferral account amount in the earnings sharing mechanism or how -- or to dispose of it, we provide full evidence and a recommendation of how we think it should be allocated to the rate classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Has not been done here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you chose to do ten years for this table.  Why didn't you do more than that?

MS. RICHARDSON:  It's the only thing that we know right now, is the rate proposals that we put forward for the customers of Orillia for ten years.  In year 11 onwards we have no -- we do not have any suggestion of what those prices will be.  We're in no position to give them any type of rate assurance of what rate class they will be in.  We can give them no assurance as to what will be happening as far as inflation and financial situations of the province.  We have no idea of what the Board's OEB's policies will be that could impact rate-setting.  For example, just recently seeing that there is a change to eliminate seasonal rates, there's been a change and move to fix.  We did not foresee any of that.  We have no idea how conservation methods will impact rates.  So to provide any type of rate analysis in year 11 on would be misleading to the customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is 11 -- year 11 more difficult than year ten?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Because year ten we've said how we're going to do that.  We said we're -- it's a ten-year deferred rebasing period.  So the only assumptions we've made there is the price cap adjustment.  We haven't made any -- so regardless if any of these other situations happen that impact -- like, for example, a few years ago smart meters, that increased a lot of overheads of the utilities.

In this case these customers in their base distribution rates would not be impacted by anything that was going to come out of the base distribution rates for ten years.  If it comes out of our rate rider, that would be a different story, but the base distribution rates, regardless of Hydro One's revenue requirement, is fixed for ten years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So help me understand this.  So you're saying that in years six through ten if the government imposes something like smart meters these customers will be protected from that.  It doesn't matter what the government says and what you have to spend, you're not going to be able to charge them anything for it.

MS. RICHARDSON:  If it's out of the revenue requirement, if it's thrown in the revenue requirement, we've said that the rates are frozen.  If it's coming in as recoveries for a rider, that's a different story, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MS. RICHARDSON:  -- the base distribution rates will remain per the methodology that we've said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So smart meters might not have been a good example --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Might not have been a good example --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- because it was a rider.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, you have the right to an ICM in that period, right?


MS. RICHARDSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you haven't given that up?

MS. RICHARDSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So none of this is really guaranteed in any way.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Their base distribution rates are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not their bill.  You did a total bill analysis, and in the total bill analysis you assumed no riders, no ICM, none of that stuff.

MS. RICHARDSON:  We can't assume that at this point of time.  The only thing -- what you asked me is why I felt more confident in up to year ten versus year 11.  Up to year ten I know what the base distribution rates will be except I do not know the price cap adjustment, what that percentage will be.  In year 11 I do not know what the revenue requirement will be that will underpin the rebasing of the new rates.  I don't know what rate class it'll be in.  I don't know a lot of things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I mean, you obviously must have done forecasts.  I mean, you wouldn't do an acquisition without doing forecasts of what revenue you're going to get, because otherwise it's a losing proposition, right?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I do know is the cost -- what we have provided evidence in, and it's consistent with the Board's policies, and that's why we believe the Board has put the policies as they are.  We do know the cost structures that will underpin the rates.  We do know, looking at Orillia's current OM&A and capital, there has been a forecast of where we expect those costs to be.  Now, that is part of the negotiations.  That's not part of the scope of this application.  But we do have an idea of what those costs will be.  But there's many other things that we don't know what's going to be happening in 2028.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many of the customers in Orillia would be in the urban density zone currently?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Pre-filed evidence.  Give me a moment.  We haven't found -- in our firm, I don't -- oh.  We haven't actually looked at where -- what type of customers they have in residential.  We have not done analysis.  We don't have all their customer data until that acquisition is done, and regardless, if they're urban, we do not know what rate class they will be in.  We have acquired rate classes now.  We don't know what acquired rate class they will be going in in 2028, if that's what you're going down to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand that, sorry.  Try that again.

MS. RICHARDSON:  So we don't know -- right now we do not know -- what we do know of the Orillia is they're mixed between residential and GS or commercial customers, their current rate structure.  We don't know based upon our own rate classification where each customer would fit into precisely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you there.  You're telling me that you acquired this company and wrote a cheque for millions and millions of dollars and you don't know what rate class their customers would go in in your structure?

MS. RICHARDSON:  No, no --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that what you're telling me?

MS. RICHARDSON:  -- that's what we've said in all of our applications.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It's true that your rates are higher than Orillia Power's rates currently?  No matter what class you're talking about?

MS. RICHARDSON:  I would assume that that would be correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it's true, isn't it, that the reason why the Board has put this application in abeyance is because of their express concern that there might be harm to ratepayers because their rates would jump up at the end of the rate -- the deferral period; isn't that right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  What -- the Board did say that there is some concern of where rates could be, but our evidence is that the need to wait for Hydro One distribution rate application, which is four years, '18 to '22, which is -- does propose new rates for the customers of Norfolk, Woodstock, and Haldimand in years '21 and '22 will not inform what will happen in years 2028 for the customers of Orillia.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that, of course, is for the Board to decide, not you, right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  No, that -- no, no, that was our state -- that is what our motion is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  And I guess what I'm asking is if the Board has expressed concern that at the end of this deferral period there is going to be a big jump in rates, why did you stop at the end of the deferral period in your forecast?  Why didn't you at last try to give information for the next year?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Hydro One's position on that is that the Board erred or misunderstood what the relevance was of rates after ten or 11 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I'm going to ask you to turn to KT1.3, and KT1.3 is --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Is your --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the output table from the spreadsheet.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Do I have that here?

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm going to preface my questions by saying I do understand that you think this is irrelevant, and --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I had some comments on that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you wish to simply say you don't want to answer questions, that's fine.  But I think it's important for me to give you the opportunity to comment on these numbers before I use them in any argument.  So I'm going to start with, do you agree that the calculations of the numbers for Hydro One Networks for all these -- all the current and 2022 numbers are directly from your EB-2017-0049 application?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Okay.  So what I can tell you on this application is that there are errors in this calculation --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. RICHARDSON:  -- that our rate people have confirmed.  I have not heard specifics for Hydro One Networks.  But one of the main concerns that we have on this is that, for the Orillia customers, you've not included the LV rates.  Why is this a problem?  This is a problem because Hydro One Network’s rates, the LV charges are embedded into them, so you're not comparing the same rates.  You're giving them an unrealistic reduction because you're not comparing the two things.

The other areas we have concern with this application is that, again, you've assumed a rate class, I guess, that the Orillia customers are going to go into.  We've not made any proposals as to that.  And you've also assumed what Hydro One's distribution rate increase will be in 2028, I guess.  And we don't know what that will be. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you there.  So my question was:  For the Hydro One Network’s numbers for current and 2022, do you agree those are correct?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Okay.  So what I'm saying is our rate people have told me those numbers have problems.  They do not address -- specifically address problems with the Hydro One Network’s rates that were put in.  So I’d have to subject to check with my rates group that all those numbers were correct.  I can say yes, but I cannot guarantee that because I do not -- all they told me there's a number of errors in this spreadsheet. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you confirm that the Orillia numbers from your affidavit and the Orillia numbers from their rate order are correct? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  No, because you haven't included the LV charges, which you have in the affidavit.  You've missed part of the rates. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right. 

MS. RICHARDSON:  So, no, they are incorrect. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, similarly, the forecast for Orillia without the acquisition and with the acquisition are also missing the LV charges.  Otherwise they're correct? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  I can't even say otherwise they’re correct when you're missing the component of the rate.  Like, you're missing the key component of the rate, so... 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So our thesis is that you’ve -- that you're going to have a big rate increase in year 11, and I'm offering that you can explain that that's not the case.  You don't want to explain that? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  I can't predict what our rates will be in 2028. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I want to turn now to your notice of motion. 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Okay. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you say in paragraph 1 that EB-2017-0049 proposes a method for harmonization of Norfolk, Haldimand, and Woodstock into Hydro One rate classes.

MS. RICHARDSON:  For EB-2017-0049? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  If you see Footnote No. 1, it refers to that.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Sorry.  Okay.  Yes.  Okay.  Yes.  Sorry. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what that application does is it says we're going to harmonize these three, and here is our start for harmonization.  Here is how we propose to do it.  So that's true, isn't it?  That application does that?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  It does have a proposal for the previously-acquired three utilities, yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you currently proposing a different approach for Orillia?

MS. RICHARDSON:  We're not proposing any approach for Orillia at this point in time. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The -- so what we conclude -- and I'm looking at 2B of your notice of motion.  You'll agree that a 100 percent rate increase harms a customer?  Is that right? 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I wouldn't be happy if my rates increased 100 percent, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So is there some reason why the Board shouldn't conclude that Hydro One will do the same to the Orillia customers? 

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Shepherd, there’s no reason why the Board should look at what happened in past years on certain transactions and make any assumption that that's what's going to happen in future years on another transaction, particularly with respect to rates that may or may not happen well beyond any time period that the Board has looked at. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Richardson --


MR. ENGELBBERG:  I believe a minute ago we were talking about 2028.  I'm not aware that the Board has ever looked at rates in 2028 or is planning to do so in the year 2017. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Richardson, were you involved in the Norfolk, Haldimand, and Woodstock applications?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Would you agree that, in each case, Hydro One said there will be no harm to the ratepayers? 

MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm going to instruct the witness not to answer that question.  Her affidavit does not refer to anything about any of the previous acquisitions. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if --


MR. ENGELBERG:  They’re not relevant to the scope of this motion. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if Hydro One said, “We won't harm the ratepayers,” and now they're doing it, the Board should not look at that past behaviour and say, “Oh, that might happen again here”?

MS. RICHARDSON:  For all of these applications that we previously filed, we’ve said that the cost structures will be lower as a result of the acquisition.  That is in line with all of the Board's policies, both their 2007 and 2008, with their 2016 handbook, with all the decisions we received for Norfolk, Haldimand, and Woodstock, with applications for the recent Alectra, for Cambridge North Dumfries and many other ones.  It's cost structures, not rates.

Why do we believe this is the correct one?  The rates are determined by cost allocation methodologies.  Cost allocation methodologies can skew the rates.  For example, we could have a set cost, and that cost could go up or down.  So let's say the cost goes down.  But there could be a change in the cost allocation methodology, so any one rate class could receive an increase in rates as the result of a change in cost allocation methodologies.

So by looking at the cost structures, the cost structures will be lower and are lower for all of our previously-acquired customers and for -- and they will be for Orillia.  We’ve said in the evidence we’re reducing their OM&A by 70 percent of their existing.  That's a benefit.  That's a lower to the cost structures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is that a benefit to the customers? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  The OEB, the Ontario Energy Board, is the financial viability of the industry.  The cost structures is what they're assessing on, the rates, a part of a future rate application.  Again, that has been reiterated in all of those documents I’ve just said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's not responsive to my question.  My question was:  How is that a benefit to the customers? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  So the benefit -- we've given numerous reasons as to why it benefits the customers.  We've not set their rates.  Their rates will be reviewed under a fair proceeding, a section 78 proceeding, per all of the processes.  That will be determined in 2028 or when we put in the application for that.

We've also outlined a number of other benefits in our application to the customers of Orillia.  We've guaranteed them, as we said, the 10-year certainty in their rates in the sense that we've frozen their rates, and we’ve told them how we're going to increase it in those periods of time. 

We've also put in other customer benefits.  We’ve told them about our call centre that is open four and a half hours more per day than the existing Orillia’s is.  Our call centre is now open Saturdays.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I’m sorry.  You're still not responding to my question.  You said there’s 70 percent reduction in cost structures.  That’s a benefit to the customers.  My question is:  How is that a benefit to the customers?  Please explain.

MS. RICHARDSON:  It's a benefit to all the customers if the costs are down.  If we were to put in a rate application and say that we're increasing our rates by 70 percent, are you telling me that that would not harm the customers? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the increasing rates or increasing cost structures?


MS. RICHARDSON:  No, increasing our cost structures.  The cost structures form the rates.  The cost structures form the rates.  So if your revenue requirement is lower, that's a benefit to the customers.  How those -- how those costs are eventually allocated to the customers of Orillia or any other customers are part of a section 78 application.  They're not part of the MAAD application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't the Board tell you in the three previous applications that we're now -- the customers are now victimized in 0049 -- didn't the Board tell you that they expect you to ensure that the reductions in cost benefit the customers of the acquired utility?  Isn't that what they told you? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  They said they expected the costs -- that we'll provide them cost-based rates in the future.  And we will do that.  We will -- we have an upcoming distribution rate application where we have people who can speak to the cost for the acquired customers, because I think that’s what you’re referring to, and we can speak to all of the rate design and the cost allocation that's behind those rates.  We stand by today that those customers of the previous acquired had benefit from consolidation and we'll stand by that the Orillia customers will benefit from them.

But you're going to have to wait for the distribution rate application if you want to go down that road to see how the allocations are coming out.  But these are -- as far as that the cost structures for all of the Board's policies have declined, which is a benefit to customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to take you paragraph 11 of the submissions of Hydro One in this proceeding.  And in the seventh bullet you say that one of the benefits of the acquisition is leveraging Hydro One's economies of scale.  Do you have any evidence that Hydro One has economies of scale?

MS. RICHARDSON:  I don't think that's a fair question to ask me.  What do you --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry, this is -- this is -- you're stating this as a fact in your submissions.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have support for that fact or not?

MR. ENGELBERG:  We're not here today to provide support for that fact or the other bullets.  The Board's Procedural Order No 1 in this proceeding set out the right of intervenors to cross-examine on the new evidence filed, the affidavit of Ms. Richardson, the affidavit of Mr. Hipgrave.  There is no cross-examination on the notice of motion.  It wouldn't help in any event to go down that road, so I'm going to instruct the witness not to answer that question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Remember I gave you the opportunity to support the statement.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I will remember that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at page 22 of the...

MS. RICHARDSON:  Page 22 or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, paragraph 22.  No, sorry, that's wrong.  Yes.  No.  Sorry, 28, 28.  You allege that -- in your submissions that the ability of Hydro One and other applicants to be active consolidators in the province will be seriously hindered.  Do you have any facts to back that up?

MS. RICHARDSON:  What I can say, it's very difficult to negotiate a transaction with a utility that you're planning to acquire when neither of you are sure of what the rules are behind acquisitions.  So we believed our application for Woodstock -- for Orillia, sorry, was compliant with all the Board's policies and the guidelines that they've recently put out from 27 -- 2007, 2015, 2016.

We also took great efforts to make sure that we had read the different decisions that we had and incorporate those.

So by having such ambiguity, how can you negotiate a contract when we don't know what the Board will allow, and that's how it's impacting us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you should know in advance what the Board is going to do in every case.

MS. RICHARDSON:  If there are policies and guidelines I think we should be able to at least rely upon those policies and guidelines.  Of course whenever you put an application in front of the Board there -- it's subject to review, it's subject to approval, it's subject to see that we put in evidence that supports it.

There is no guarantee.  We realize that.  But there should -- if there is an element that there are guidelines, we do expect those guidelines to be followed.  And if they're followed for every other utility and they're not followed for Hydro One, we don't think that's very fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you do understand that the guidelines cannot be legally binding.  You understand that, right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  I do understand that, and obviously we're --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then --


MS. RICHARDSON:  -- obviously we're seeing that right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then why are you complaining that they're not blindly following their own guidelines?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't believe that's a fair question to the witness --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I didn't raise it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I refer to Mr. Hipgrave's affidavit.  The fact is that this application has gone 400 days with no end in sight, and I believe you put as a question to Mr. Hipgrave after that, or perhaps it was to Ms. Richardson, you said if this transaction is approved in June of 2018 what would happen.  I've heard nothing today or in any of the material filed that would lead anybody to believe that if PO number 6 stands that this transaction could possibly be approved in June of 2018.  It appears that there probably won't be a decision in the Hydro One section 78 application for distribution rates until December of 2018, 13 months from now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's the basis for that, Mr. Engelberg?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Based on the time line so far of the Board and the way the proceeding is going and the distribution rates application.  There's certainly no evidence that there would be an order in June.  Even if there were an order in June, as you postulated, if it's 400 days now, I haven't calculated how many more days it would be --


MR. SHEPHERD:  600.

MR. ENGELBERG:  -- from now until June, and then what the Board said in 2000 -- in PO number 6 that then at that time they would look at this proceeding again.  So there wouldn't be an end to it even in June of 2018 based on your assumption of when the distribution rate application may be decided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  June 2018 was optimistic, I give you that.

All right.  So still in paragraph 28 of the submissions, you refer to Hydro One creating economic efficiencies and cost-effectiveness in the distribution sector.

Do you have evidence that Hydro One has done that in its acquisition policy?

MS. RICHARDSON:  So where we're referring there is the -- the utilities are often embedded, and we just look at the operational efficiencies instead of having two utilities serve one township in Orillia, there's efficiencies in there.  Right now we have -- on one side of the town we have an outage that we have got to go through.  Our crews go in and out through the town.

It's just logical when you're already serving part of the town to have -- and we were supporting the areas outside for Orillia, in and around it.  There's operational efficiencies.  We're already there.  We have staff available there.

The other areas is we will provide because we do have a larger staff component if there is any huge storms or anything that hit for Orillia we have people who can go out and assist them for any type of unknown circumstances where there are major outages.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You do have the highest rates in the province, right, except for Algonquin?

MS. RICHARDSON:  We do have the least dense service territory of the province too.  We do have the least kilometres of line per customer in the province.  There's many reasons, and you're aware of many of them, why our rates are higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Even your urban rates, which are based on high density, are still higher than everybody else, right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Again, but you look at our rates and compare to some, like, the City of Toronto or the City of Ottawa, again our urban is not as urban, if you want to use it, as some of these larger communities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Bad examples, because their rates are actually very high.

I guess here is what I'm trying to understand.  If you have the highest rates in the province and they're getting higher, you've just made an application to boost them higher still, how can you say that when you acquire a utility you're creating efficiencies?  How can you say that?  You're not.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Shepherd, I've been willing to let this go on to this level for as long as it has, but these two notices of motion are not about the philosophy of future rate-making around the province of Ontario.  It's whether the Board should or should not have put this hearing on hold indefinitely.  So let's move on to something else.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Engelberg, you wrote these submissions, right?  Are you withdrawing this paragraph now?

MR. ENGELBERG:  We're not.  And that why I said we let it go on as far as it has.  You had a little debate with Ms. Richardson about rates and efficiencies, but it's time to move on to another subject.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm giving you the opportunity to provide supporting evidence for paragraph 28.  I'm hearing you say you have no supporting evidence.

MS. RICHARDSON:  We have supporting evidence --


MR. ENGELBERG:  That is not correct.  That's a misstatement of the facts --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell me what your evidence is.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In the application in this case.

MS. RICHARDSON:  The evidence in the application --


MR. ENGELBERG:  We don't need to go back to the evidence in the application --


MS. RICHARDSON:  No, no, it --


MR. ENGELBERG:  -- it stands on the record.

MS. RICHARDSON:  -- it's also in there that there is cost savings of 3.9 million per year of OM&A and 600,000 per year in capital expenditures that will not be spent in the electricity industry if we are able to purchase Orillia Power.  That's our estimate --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we're going to save all this money, but you're not getting any of it.  That's your argument, is it?

MS. RICHARDSON:  That is under a cost allocation rate design purposes, which we've said before under a section 78 application.  A MAAD application reviews cost structures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to turn to you, Mr. Hipgrave, and this is in the Hydro One submission, paragraph 30, the last bullet, and I'll read it:

"OPDC, in anticipation of an acquisition, has not been replacing staff."

So I want to understand whether that's correct or not, because I understand your argument about uncertainty, but that's not the same as saying we're not going to replace anybody who leaves, because we're going to be acquired anyway.  Is the latter true? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Which paragraph are you referring to? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is paragraph 30, the last bullet.  It’s on page 10 of their submission. 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Yep. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you have --


MR. HIPGRAVE:  Going back to my point about expected timelines for this transaction, we looked at the OEB guidelines of 130 days.  Obviously we added a little bit of a buffer there.  We projected six to nine months.  So and we’re between 180 and 270 days that this would likely take.  That takes us to approximately the end of June if you go back to the filing of the MAAD, add those days up.  So we're thinking midyear that this transaction -- the decision gets made and the transaction gets approved.

Based on that, you saw the dates when these various people left, May, June.  Why am I going to start a time-intensive recruiting process, costly, to replace positions that, if this deal closes, Hydro One comes in; the organizations gets amalgamated.  It wouldn't be logical to undertake that endeavour. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm -- that's why I ask the question, because the previous discussion, it seemed like you weren't doing anything different.  It’s just you were trying to keep people, but they couldn’t -- you couldn't keep them.  This appears to say you have adopted a policy that you do not try to replace staff because you assume the acquisition will be proceeding.  Is that correct? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  There is no policy.  It's utilizing business sense, trying to understand when is this transaction going to get approved.  Is it logical to undertake a recruitment process?  Can I rely on the dedicated staff that I have to take some additional -- on some additional duties in a -- for a short period of time to see this through for a couple of months?  You know, if we can do that, great. 

And they have.  People have stepped up huge.  And now, I mean, it's back to the drawing board.  We’ve got to figure this out.  We're at 400 days.  We could be at 600.  We could be at 700.  I've got to run this business regardless of what's going on, on this transaction. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a lot of sympathy for you in that respect.  Don't get me wrong.  But this document is dated in August.  And these submissions are dated in August.  So this statement:
“OPDC, in anticipation of an acquisition, has not been replacing staff.”

Is that still true? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  As I said in my opening remarks when I corrected my affidavit -- not so much corrected, sorry, updated my affidavit, we have taken some actions, and as I -- with respect to an HR consultant that we brought in on a part-time basis, arrangements that I've made with a former executive -- retired executive assistant.  It's a business.  It need to be run.  On a day-by-day basis, I'm responsible to analyze the situation.  If I need to bring in resources, I will.  If I can defer or hand tasks off to existing employees, I will.  There’s no set policy that states I cannot hire ever.  I've just got to deal with the situation with all the uncertainty that’s been put upon us with PO No. 6. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you heard Mr. Engelberg estimate it might be the end of next year before this is dealt with.  If that were the case, do you have a plan for how to deal with -- how to operate the utility between now and then? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  The utility is operating right now.  I meet with our board.  I meet with our senior management team.  And I’m consistently analyzing the situation.

The HR example is a perfect one.  Okay?  That person left.  We anticipated that the deal would close shortly, so tasks were distributed amongst existing staff.  PO No. 6 comes out, erases the finish line, gives us all this uncertainty.  So I've gone out and brought in an HR consultant, albeit on a temporary part-time basis for now, but that's an example of how you manage a business, and you adapt day by day to what's being -- what's occurring.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I'm trying to drive at, Mr. Hipgrave, and I’m not actually trying to trap you in any way.  I'm trying to actually understand what you're doing because I accept that you're in a difficult position.  I understand that.  The -- you could have a strategy that says let’s assume that we’re going to win this motion.  And so December, bam, we're going ahead.  And that means that you sort of struggle day by day.  You try to get some short-term fixes, but you don't really do anything major.  Or you could say let's assume the worst that it's going to be a year from now, and we might not even get an approval, and we better change our operating plan so that we actually hire people to do these jobs for at least another year.

Have you made a decision which way you're going on that?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  As I said in my previous answer, my job is to work with our board, with our senior management team and consistently analyze the ongoing needs of the business and then take the actions required.  Have I decided that I'm going to hire X, Y, and Z because I don't believe this is going to close until 2019?  No, I haven't.  I have to ensure, on a day-by-day basis, that the business is operating smoothly, and that’s what we’re doing. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.  I have no more questions. 

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will continue.  I probably have 10 minutes, and then I think we're done.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


Mr. Hipgrave, just very quickly for you, Mr. Shepherd has covered almost all of my questions, but if I could take you just again to the final paragraph of your affidavit, paragraph 14.  There were some questions about a lease relating to Orillia Power Generation.  You're familiar with that?

MR. HIPGRAVE:  Right.  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  And can you confirm for me?  The costs of this lease are paid for by Orillia Power Generation and not by the utility? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So those are not ratepayer costs? 

MR. HIPGRAVE:  That's correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

If I could move to you, Ms. Richardson.  Again, Mr. Shepherd has covered many of my questions, but if we could turn to the notice of motion, the appendix A.  This is the high-level calculation of the rate differential.

As you discussed with Mr. Shepherd and you can see about halfway down the page if you're wearing your glasses, which I'm not, the distribution rate increase for cost of service years were guesstimated, if I can use that word, to be about 6 percent?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Right. 

MR. MILLAR:  And you derived that by looking at the average rate increases for cost-of-service applications in 2016 and 2017?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  From 2015 to -- yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, sorry, how exactly did you derive that?  Did you actually go and look through the tariffs and do this calculation, or is it reported at a high level somewhere? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  No.  We’ve put it on a note to the other one.  It's something that was from Staff from Algoma Power.  Do you want me to actually get the -- I just got to find where I put that little note on here.  It’s -- they use -- our rate people use this.  It's to calculate the RRP rates, and it’s something that our rates people get from Board Staff which lists all of the rate increases for all the utilities.  And then they derived -- and then they pulled the amount out for the customers who had -- did a cost of service versus an IRM calculation.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that’s the information that was provided by Board Staff? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yeah.  For that purpose.  It’s not for --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you just took that 6 percent.  You took '16 and '17, did an average there, and then just used that for the purposes? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Here it is.  It’s EB-2016-0055 Algoma Power's rate increase.  The table was compiled by OEB Staff and was used to determine the 2017 Algoma Power RRP adjustments factor.  See OEB’s decision and order. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Does it have the information for 2015 as well, or is it just '16 and '17? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  So what they -- yeah.  They -- what they provided me was the '15 and '16 numbers and the '17.  I do not -- because I didn't actually calculate that out, I don't know if it had the 2014 numbers in there.

MR. MILLAR:  So do you know why 2015 was excluded when you did your average? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  If it didn't have -- I'm not certain that carried 2014 numbers.  I'd have to check that. 

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe just to -- what I'm asking you is my understanding, which may not even be correct, but we were wondering why you used '16 and ’17.  And there was a feeling that the increases in '14 and '15 might have been lower.  So maybe I can put this by way of best efforts undertaking, and if you don't have the data, that's fine.  

But what I’d ask you is, if you have access to the numbers for 2014 and 2015 as well, if you could sort of calculate what the average works out if you use all four years and then run the calculation again using that percentage if it's different than six.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes, we can do that. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  And I think that's JT1.2, if I'm not mistaken.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  WITH REFERENCE TO THE RATE DIFFERENTIAL CALCULATION IN APPENDIX A OF THE NOTICE OF MOTION, TO CALCULATE WHAT THE AVERAGE WORKS OUT IF YOU USE ALL FOUR YEARS AND THEN RUN THE CALCULATION AGAIN USING THAT PERCENTAGE IF IT'S DIFFERENT THAN SIX.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that.

Again, some high-level questions about the motion.  And let's see how far we can get with this, because I do want to be aware of the scoping issues regarding our cross-examination today.

But if I could just take a step back and get at Hydro One's concern with Procedural Order No 6.  I think if I read your motion correctly -- first, if we look at Procedural Order No. 6 and what the Board said, it appears to me, I think -- you can look at page 2, but I know you've read PO No. 6 -- the Board appears to have a concern regarding what happens to rates for an acquired utility after a deferred rebasing period elapses.  And I think for that reason they chose to hold this proceeding in abeyance until the conclusion of Hydro One's distribution case because, if I read PO No. 6, the Board seems to think there would be information in that application or in that decision that would be relevant to this MAADS application.  Sort of a long sentence there, but --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Yeah, that's what we understand what the Board has said.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Because they've looked at the information in the distribution case.  That has information about the costs that will be visited upon the three previously acquired utilities; is that right? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the Board -- they're rate increases there, if I can put it that -- we don't have to get into the details, but there was a jump in rates for those three acquired utilities; is that fair? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  There was some rate increases considering that they had not had their rates reset or had an inflationary factor applied to them for five years, and any other circumstances, but you also got to consider that. 

MR. MILLAR:  Of course, but the basic point is there is a significant rate jump for those acquired utilities through this application if it's approved as filed; is that fair?

MS. RICHARDSON:  I'm not going to say if it's significant, but there was some rate increases which --


MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  And Hydro -- sorry, I didn't mean to cut you off.  Were you finished?

MS. RICHARDSON:  No, that's fine. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And Hydro One's position on this motion is that whatever the details about those acquired utilities may be in the distribution application, that's not relevant to this MAADS application because Orillia is not part of that application, and that doesn't speak to what may or may not happen to Orillia after the deferred period --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes, that's --


MR. MILLAR:  -- have I got that right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  That is our position, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank --


MR. ENGELBERG:  That's correct.  I would also add that what Hydro One is observing in relation to that is that Hydro One is unaware of any other MAAD application in which the Board has determined to put a decision on such application in abeyance until such time as a future rate application would be heard, because in every case where an acquiring utility is proposing to acquire a subject utility there will always be a future rate application.  And Hydro One is unaware of any such cases in which the Board has said let's wait until a determination of a future rate application to see how it could have an effect on this particular MAAD acquisition. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But the underlying grounds for your motion, I saw them as twofold.  One is the relevance issue that whatever is in that DX application is not relevant to Orillia, and then secondarily, you have a procedural fairness argument; is that -- 


MR. ENGELBERG:  That's right. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  So can you confirm for me -- and I think Mr. Shepherd has gone over this -- your motion materials on this motion don't have any information about what may or may not happen to Orillia's rates after year ten?  I think we've gone over that, but is that fair?

MS. RICHARDSON:  That is correct, yes.  I think he said...

MR. MILLAR:  And that relates to both rates or -- well, there is information about underlying cost structures, right? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Correct.  There's --


MR. MILLAR:  That's the paragraph 11 stuff.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes, we're reducing their OM&A and their capital significantly. 

MR. MILLAR:  And if I -- the way I look at that is that's sort of the aggregate rates between Hydro One and Orillia.  Everything else being equal would tend to be lower because of these types of reductions, right?

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes, yes, the revenue cart would be lower between the two. 

MR. MILLAR:  And that wouldn't necessarily result in lower rates for Orillia, though, right, because you would still have to do a cost allocation exercise and Hydro One's costs in other areas, at least in theory, could be higher or lower than Orillia's for that matter, and you would have to feed all that through your cost allocation model to determine what the rates would be.

MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes, and we agree that in -- when we propose rates in 2028 that rate application will go through the full prudence of a rate application, be fair, procedural, will be reviewed and tested by the OEB, and when deriving the rates, as we've done for the acquirers, we will consider any rate impacts in the application of that.

And regardless, also, the distribution rate application is an applied-for application, it's not an approved application.  And we don't know what's going to come out of that application, let alone what's going to come out of one five years after that. 

MR. MILLAR:  And the evidence you have in the MAADS application -- I think the stuff you took from paragraph 11 is all taken from the MAADS application, right?  That's already on the record in this proceeding? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  Just... paragraph 11...  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's the --


MS. RICHARDSON:  If it's -- yeah, so it's either in our pre-evidence or in our arguments.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  That's just a summary of --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- information that's already on the record in the MAADS --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  -- MAADS application.  But there isn't any information in the MAADS application, no evidence relating to the cost allocation model or where you would place Orillia in terms of whether it's lumped with the other acquired utilities or if it's merged with other rates.  That's not information that's on the record.

MS. RICHARDSON:  No, because the Board's policies have told us not to include that in, that rate harmonization and rate-making will not be considered in the MAAD application, it will be considered in a future rate application, so we've listened to the Board's directions and --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and I've understood your arguments in that regard, and -- but my simple question is --


MS. RICHARDSON:  No, we have not proposed anything --


MR. MILLAR:  -- it's not --


MS. RICHARDSON:  -- for Orillia for 2028. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And if I heard you speaking to Mr. Shepherd earlier, I understand -- I guess if in reading PO No. 6 to try and determine what the Board's concerns were and what it wanted to determine, you're saying the information related to the three previously acquired utilities is irrelevant.  We went over that.

So I take it the Board shouldn't assume that the way these acquired utilities are treated in the distribution application, that's not necessarily indicative of how Orillia will be treated? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  It's not necessary.  We haven't done that analysis at this point of time. 

MR. MILLAR:  So you haven't considered where -- how you'll treat Orillia in ten years?  That isn't something you've already thought about? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  I mean, what we would look at at that point in time is where the rates of our existing rate classes are, so we look at those, and if we can move them into one of the acquirer's rate classes, that would probably be ideal, but that analysis hasn't been done.  We also -- you know, we could have made other purchases, so every time you purchase a new utility, even if they all are going to the existing rate -- the AU rate classes that we have, or the acquired rate classes, that will change the cost structures of that utility.  So we would have to take in mind of -- we have to look at each individual utility that we're not charging -- creating any rate shock or anything else within that too.

MR. MILLAR:  And when we talk about rate shock -- this is a slight aside, but if you're going to mitigate rate shock, that simply means other ratepayers are paying for it, right?  Rate shock is usually dealt with by smoothing or something like that, and then you either put the money in a deferral account or with an acquired utility, it might simply be made --


MS. RICHARDSON:  Yeah, subject to --


MR. MILLAR:  -- up for it --


MS. RICHARDSON:  -- the cost -- basically any cost -- the cost allocation, sorry, the cost allocation determines which ratepayers pay for each element of the revenue requirement's cost. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So for year ten and beyond or year 11 and beyond you haven't done any -- at least no thorough analysis of the underlying cost structures that would be applicable to Orillia and how that cost allocation exercise --


MS. RICHARDSON:  That has not been done.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that couldn't be found on the record, correct? 

MS. RICHARDSON:  No. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much. 

And with that I think we're done.  So we're done before lunch.  I guess that's a victory.  Thank you to the witnesses, the court reporter, and Mr. Shepherd, and we are adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:18 a.m.
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